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SUMMARY

An archaeclogical assessment of the former Frickley Collicry, West Yorkshire, was carried
out dunng June 2003 by Oxford Archasology North (OA North) on behalf of English
Partnerships. The archacological work was required to inform any lulure proposals for the
redevelepment ol the arca {(centred on NGR SE 464 097), and comprised a desk-bascd
assessment and a visual mspection survey of the site. The project was funded catirely by
Englhish Partnersinps.

The assessment has identificd cvidence for considerable archacological activity within the
region dating back to the prehistoric penod, although only remzins of the medieval and
later periods arc known from existing documentary sources Lo be represented within the
study area. Sigmificantly, regression analysis of the available cartosraphic sources for the
area has identilied a probable medieval decr park to have occupied part of the study area.
This [caturc encompasses some 164 hectares and its identification raises some queslion as
to the location ol the associated manor house.

Since 1903, however, the study arca has been dedicated to coal extraction at Lrickley
Colhery. Frnckley was one of a number of collieries to have been cstablished in the district
during the early twentieth century, and became one of the largest producers in the region.
Nearly 3,000 men were employed at Frickley Colliery by the mid-iwentieth century, as
coul hecame the rafson o ‘eire lor sclllements such as Scuth Elmsall. A decline in the coal
trade durmg the 19805, and the closure of the colliery in 1993, led to a period of bitter
depression m the area.

The demelition of the collicry and ihe subsequent iandscaping of the area during the 1990s
has effectively removed most of the site’s archaeolopical resource. Those elements which
do survive, and merit some archacological consideration, arc the air-raid shelter, the buricd
remams of the colliery buildings and rerenants of the colliery spoil tip. Additionaily,
mvestigation of the boundary of the former deepr park along the southem edge of the study
area would be desirable.

For the wee of Fhe Erviconaent Partaership ’ A0 Noeeh: Juwly 2001
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[. INTRODUCTION

i.1
1.1.1

1.1.4

CIRCUMSTANCES OF THE PROJECT

In responsc fo a proposal for the landscaping and enhancement of the derelict
industrial stic of Fnickley Cellicry (centred on NGR SE 464 0973, in South Elmsall,
West Yorkshire (Fig 1), the Environment Practice (TEP) commissioncd Oxtford
Archacology North (GA North) o undertake an archaeclogical asscssment ol the
site. This was intended to inform the landscape architect involved in the project,
and any future planning applications which may be made {or the sile. The work was
camed out during June 2003, and was consistent with the relevant standards and
procedurcs of the Instilute of Field Archacologists, and generally accepted hest
practice.

The archaeclogical werk comprised a desk-based assessment and a visual
inspection walkover survey, which cxamined the proposed development area for
cvidence of sites with archacological potential. The desk-based asscssment
consisted of 2 seatch of both primary documents, inciuding maps and documentary
sources, held i Doncaster Archives and the West Yorkshire Acchives in
Wakefield, as well as any relevant sccondary sources. A more peneral historical
background for the study arca was compiled fiom secondary sourccs, and was
inlended 1o place the results of the assessment in a wider historical context. A
visual inspection walkover survey of the sile was undertaken to relate the existing
landscape to research findings.

The results of the assessment are presented in the form of a short report oullining
the results of findings, followed by a statement of the archacological potential of
the sludy area, and the impact that the redevelopment wiil have on this resource.

Far the wse of The Environmand fartaerchip € G4 North hafy 2007
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2. METHODOLOGY

2.1
211

2.1.2

214

DeSK-BASED ASSESSMENT

The study area was focuscd on the site of Friclkley Colliery, which was subject to
detarled archaeological study, while the surroundmg area was assessed in more
general terms. The study arca is on the border between West Yorkshire and South
Yorkshire and as a conscquence it was nocessary to access the archives and SMRs
of both countics. A range ol sources were consulted during the course of the desk-
bascd assessment, including records held by the West Yorkshire Archive Scrvice
Sites and Monuments Record (SMR), the South Yorkshire Archacology Scrvice
SMR, Fnghsh Hentage, the aerial photopraph collection at the Mational
Manuments Record, and the Coal Authority Mimag Records Office. Parlicufar
emphasis was placed upon eariy cartopraphic evidenee, which has the potenhal to
mfonm medieval and post-medieval occupation and land use of the area. A range of
secondary scurces was also consulfed, and the resuits have been incorporated inte
the historical background.

West Yorlishire Arciiives Service, Sitex and Monaments Record: the West
Yorkshire Archives Scrvice Sifes and Monuments Record {SMR), held in
Walkeficld, was consulted to cstablish Lhe sites of archacolopical intcrest alrcady
known within the study arca, ard the cxtent and character of these. For cach cotry a
short notc was obtained which was added to the site gazetteer {(Appendix 1), and
marked on a location plan (Fix 2). Unpublished reporis heid by the SMR,
secondary published sources, map cxtracts and aenal photographs were consulted
where relevant.

West Yorkshire Archives, Wakefield (W¥A): the West Yorkshire Archives in
Wakeficld were visited to consult pnmary records relating to the study arca. The
tithe map for the parish of South Elmsall, of which the sitc [orms a part, was not
avaiiablc, as it is held in York. However, an enciosure map and an £xX1ensve run ol
Ordnance Survey maps werc consulled for the study arca. Copy books and other
related documents belonging to the engineer of Frickley Colliery werc briefly
cxamincd. Sceondary sources were also mvestigated.

South Yorkshire Archacology Service, Sites and Monuments Record: the South
Yorkshire Archacology Service Sites and Monumenis Record (SMR) held in
Sheffield was consulted to cstablish the sitcs of archaeological interest already
known within the study area, and (he extent and character of these. For each entry a
short note was obtained which was added to the site gazetteer {Appendix [) and
marked on a location plan {Fig 2). The SMR did not hold any acrial photegraphs
covering the siudy area.

Doncaster Archives (DA): Doncaster Archuves were visiled to consull primary
rccords relating to the study area. The tithe map for the parish of Clayton with
Frickley, which borders the site to the south, was not available, as it is held in
Leeds. However, an enclosure map and coal mining plans were consulted for the
study area. Sccondary sources were also investipated.

For dre use af The Enviropamnt Parinersiip ’ o A Nenrife: Jeedv 20603
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2.1.6  English Herifage: Cnglish Heritage was consulted with reference to a photographic

1.2
22.1

23
231

survey of Frnckley Colliery undertaken m 1993, and 1o cstablish whether any
further archaeological work had been conducted on the site.

The Coal Aathority, Mining Records Office: the Mining Records Office of The
Coal Authority was consulied in order to obtain abandonment plans and surface
plans of Frickley Colliery. This is the main scurce of information regarding the
helow-ground workings of the collicry.

Natienal Monuments Record, Collection of Acvial Phofographs: the Collection of
Acrial Photographs held by the National Monuments Becord was consulted m order
to obtain copics of photopraphs covering the study arca.

Oxford Archacology North: QA North has an extensive hbrary of sccondary
sources relevant to the siudy area, as well as numerous unpublished clientl reporis
on work carmed out under its former fitle of Lancaster University Archaeological
Unit (LUAU), and as OA North. These were also consulted where necessary.

VISUAL INSPECTION

Following the desk-based assessment, a basic walkover survey of the sile was
undertaken to relate the existing landscape to research findings. The survey was
undertaken on 19" June 2003, and was completed in a systematic fashion. The
position of archaeologcal features identified within the landscape was recorded
using GPS survey techmques, and was related to features shown on the Lopographic
survey provided by the chent. A photographic record was also undertaken.

ARCINVE

A full archive of the desk-based assessment and visual mspection survey has been
produced to a professional standard in accordance with current English Hentage
guidehines (English Hentage 1991a). The project archive represents the collation
and mdexing of all the data and material gathered dunng the course ol the project,
in accordance with United Kingdom Institute for Conservaton gudelines (UJKIC
1990} The paper and dipital archive will be deposited in the West Yorkshire
Archives in Wakefield on eompletion of the projecl. A copy ol the report will be
deposited with the West Yorkshire Archives SMR in Wakeheld.

For the wie of The Ervirasnment Parirarshm B L1 Morth: July 2003
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3. BACKGROUND

3.1
3.1.1

3.1.3

e

3.2.3

324

LOCATION, GEOLOGCY AND TOPOGRAPAY

The study area lies 1n the southern pad of South Elmsall township (NGR SE 464
097}, and is situated some 15km east of Bamsley and 15km north-west of
Doncaster, within the modern county of West Yorkshire (Fig 1). The settlemnents of
South Elmsall and South Kirkby are situated to the north and norh-west
respectively, whilst Fnckley lies to the south.

The: sohid geology 1o the east of the sile 15 Southern Magnesian Limestone overlain
by tmn glacial driff, with Coal Measures in the west {Countryside Comrmission
1998, 04-5). 'lThe Caal Mcasures are made up of mudstonc with beds of sandslone
and many seams of coal. The hmestone deposits of the arca have been exploited as
a building material lor many centuries, with a rcsulting large number of small
guarries occurring throughout the region.

The landscape of the region is dominated by two escarpments, which stretch from
Bedale in North Yorkshire down fo Nottingham. These escarpments form a quite
parrow ndye and, i combination with well-drained soils and low altitude, have
crcated a landscape of rolling landform and fertile farmland (ibéd). This is
contrasted sharply with the industrial scttlements thal have evolved around the
numerous collieries in the area.

HISTORY AND ARCHAEQLOGY

fntroduction: the historical and archaeological backpround is compiled principally
through secondary sources, and 1s intended to place the resulis of the assessment
into a wider confext.

Prefistory: in roneral loms, fow sitcs of the Mosolithis and Noolithic poricds have
been identificd in the arca, despite the fertility of the surrounding land, and little
can be said about the regimes of land exploitation. This lack of information may
well result from the intensity of later apricultural activily in the region.

An abundance of cropmarks in the Scuth Elmsall area to the north of the site,
however, have shown up on aerial photographs (Beegan 2000, 4). Many have been
assigned Lo the Bronze Age, and the Iron Age fo Romano-British periods, based on
morphological comparisuns to often similarly untested data (ibid). The Fron Age is
represented by a hilliort at South Kirkby, designated as a Scheduled Monument
(5M 384). Cropmarked enclosures i the vicinity have been inlerpreted as
prehistoric, being circular, N-shaped, and sub-circular in form and are thought to
form a complex relating (o the fort (Faull and Moorhouse 1981a, 118).

Romun: Roman activity within the region is focussed upon Doncaster, where there
was a fort, and was referred 1o in the Antonine Ttneraries as Caer-Dua, meaning
fortification on the River Don (Whecler 1994). Doncaster’s location belween the
gorge of the upper valley, and the Nood plain of the River Don made it an
important crossing site, and a fortiticd setlement here would take advantage of this
strategic pomt {Martin ef of 1994, 12). Roman activity closer to the sludy area,

For the use of The Enviromment Partaership 1 £ North: fuly 2003
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3.2.5

J2.6

3.2.7

3.28

329

however, 1s Testricted to the road from Doncaster to Tadeaster (Margary 1973,
415}, which mins to the east of Frickley.

During the Roman period, coal used in York at the crematoria was reputably
extracted from the large cxposed coalficld at Garforth in West Yorkshire
(Goodchild 2600, 8). Warkings wilh Roman remains are said to have been found at
Thorpe on the Hili, near Rothwell, and coal was used by thc Romans in their
settiement at Castieford (éhid). However, in the South Elmsall area, the richest coal
scams are very deep underground, which prevented their exiraction until the late
nincteenth century (Section 3.2.18).

Early Medieval: there is considerable evidence of early medieval activity in this
part of Yorkshire. Tor the north, placenamcs roflect the existence of the Kingdom of
Elmet, a Bnush pelity seemingly overrun by the cxpanding Kinpdom of
Northumbna in the early seventh century. It is thought thal Doncaster was 2 place
of considerable note as Edwin, King of Northumbria, had a royal residence there in
the AD 620s (Hunter 1974). Certainly, a major royal cslate, of Conisbrough, had
devcloped by the pre-Conguest period (Hey 1986). There are accounts of Edwin
invadimg Wales and as a result engaging in battle with Cadwallo, King of Wales in
retahation. The battle is suggested to have taken place at a spot near Hatfield (Clark
2002). The area lay close to the boundary inte Mercia, and in AD 716 Osred, King
of Northumbiia, was slamn “‘near the southern border’, which could relate to the area
around Doncaster. This region, howcver, was particularly exposed to attacks by the
‘sca kings’, the llumber estuary being an easy access for Scandinavian raiders in
the late minth and tenth eenluries. It is recorded that, in the reigns of Elfwald and
Ethelred, raders destroyed the Monasterium Doni amnis, a religious house on the
banks of the Don, which could refer to Doncaster itsclf, although evidence for this
has yet to be identified {(Hunler 1974).

There 15 some evidence 1o suggest that agricultural activity decrcased in the region
following the end of the Roman period, followed by agricultural expansion from
the sixth ot seventh century (Dinnin 1997, 41-2). A very complex patlern of manors
and panshes seems largely to have developed by the late pre-Conquest period,
when the apparent disintegration of major estatcs, parlicularly those once held by
the Crown, such as Cenisbrough, created numerous smaller estates {(Hey 1986, 16).
The fragmentary nature of some estates is clear from the Domesday Book (1086),
where holdings in the diffcrent scttlements arc referenced in numercus entrics
{Faull and Stinson 1380).

Tostig, Earl of Northumbria and sen of Godwin, Earl of Kenl, held Hexthorpe and
Daoncaster prior to 1065, bul Doneaster first appears as a placename in the will of
Wuliric Spott (1002-4) (Hey 1986, 52) although the extent of settlement is difficu|t
to asccrtain. In 1086, part of the fief belonged to Roberl, Farl of Mortain, along
with 750 other manors in the surrounding area (Page 1974, 28). After the Norman
Conquest, the lands were divided among 12 persons who held their sharcs
immediately of the crown. Doncaster is mentioned in the Domesday Book as part
of the scke of Hexthotpe, which was granted to Nige! dec Fossard as onc of
numerons shares managed by feudal retainers.

Medieval: the majority of the land in and around South Elmsall was seerningly
dedicated to agncultural activities. Doncaster is mentioned in the Domesday Book
(1086), and apparcally constituted a rural seftlement at thal time, although 1t

For the use of The Frvirmwment Parinershin B3 Morth Frely 20003
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3.2.11

3.2.12

3213

3.2.14

3.2.15

3.2.16

3.2.17

3.2.18

developed into the most prosperous of the medieval lowns i this parl of Yorkshire,
owing much of its wealth to its weekly markets and annoal Gars.

Frickley also appears in the Domesday Heok of 1080, and 1= thought to mean
*Frnica’s glade or clearing” (Smith 1961, 89-90). The earliest reference to Scuth
Elmszall is an inquest of 1285, when it was stated that John de Cresacre held the vill,
or lowrnship, of Sonth Elmsall (Faull and Moorhouse 1981b).

The manor of Fockley appears to have come 1o the farmly of Anne by the marriage
of Bir Willlam Anne with Alice, daughter of Robert Haningel, dunng the fourtcenth
century {Hunter 1974, 149-50). The original manor house at Fockley was
demoelished by Anthony Wharton, probably during the eighteenth century (i6:5d).

‘The medieval village of Frickley lay approximately 2km (o the south of the study
area. The village was already small in 1334, and had dwindled to six marricd
couples and eleven single persons over the age of 16 by 1379 (Hey 1979, 76). A
rental of 1426 shows that the land was still farmed, but by the mid-seventeenth
century all the houses had gone (ibid). Eighteenth century landscaping has removed
all physical traces of the villape, and all that now remains is the church {(i&id).

The exploitation of the arca’s rich mincral resource may be traced back to the
medieval penod; the monks at Monk Bretton, around 12km south-west of the study
area, mined coal and iron ore during the twellth century (Rusiceki 1993, 443, whilst
al Hemsworlh, which lics approximatcly 5km north of the study arca, the remains
of beil-pit workings of probable medicval date were discovered in the 1870s, with
similar remains found further west at Bricrloy and Shafton (#64d).

Past-medieval: the earlicsl detaled carlogruphic source for the arca is that
prociuced by Jeffreys m 1775, This map shows South Elmsall as a linear scttlement,
whitst Frnickley appcears te have consisted of litle other than Anthony Wharton's
TIANGT Houss.

Evidence of limestone extruchion in the Soulh Eimsall area 1s provided by the
quarries shown on the Ordnance Survey maps of 1892 and 1894 {Figs 3 and 4).
[ndeed, 1t has been suggested thal quarmying and lme-buming provided the sccond
largest source of employinent m lhe area afier farmmng (op off, 21} Coal muning on
a commercial scale in the area did not commence unlil the late nmeteenth cenfury,
primanly due o lcchnical problems of extraction as the coal measures lic at a
considerable depth (Section 3.2.1%).

Conversely, there were few physical bamiers for the creation of transport
infrastructure within the memon. The construction of the South Yorkshire
Maviration of the Don from the Trent to Shefficld during the reipn of George [V
(1821), and the subsequent railway lines, opencd up the comumunication and
disinbution network of the area (Phillips and Danby 1921, Z85).

The railways in the Doncaster area form chronologically two systems. The st
system, built between 1845 and 1880, was centred on Doncaster and was intended
to provide cssential radial links for both passenger and goods traffic (Joy 1984,
204), The sccond syslem, built from 1880 onwards, was created pomanly to
service new workings m the coalfield and to provide a transport route to the coastal
ports (ihid).

The first railway line o be built in the vicinity of the study area was the West
Riding and Grimsby Joint raitway (WR & G), which was opened in 1866 (Rusiecki

For the wee of The Enviraument Parinershig I3 OO North: Stuly 26004
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3.2.21
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3.2.23

3.2.24

1993, 37), and effectively cut South Elmsall townsinp in two (Fig 3). The creation
of this railway cncouraped the estabhishment of mining operations i the area; m
1876, colhery shaflls were sunk n South Kirkby (Willkinson 1979, 113). The
alfraciion was the famecd Barnsley coal seam, which was known to be the finest
steam-raising coal in Yorkshire (£bid).

The opening of the WR & G was followed in 1879 by the opening ol anothor
passcnger line, the Swinton and Knoltingly Joint Railway (Joy 1984, 223). Its main
purposc was as a cul-off for traffic from Sheffield and the south o0 York and the
niorth, and it commected with the WR & G at Moorthorpe (i5id). Operationally 11 was
ttuly a jomt line, and was used by a multiplicity of services, mainly passenger, bul
also coal freight traffic {ifid). The main two companics operating trains on the line
were the Midiand Railway and the North Eastern Railway.

Shordy ailer 1880, a rail ink berween Sowh Kirkby Coelliery and the main iine was
completed, as well as a branch line from the colliery 1o Moorthorpe station
{(Whilkinson 1979, 114).

The [lull, Bamsley and West Riding Junction Railway and Dock Company opened
a line to the east of the proposed development site in 1885 (Joy 1984, 227), forming
part of the second systom of railways in the arca. It was conccived primarily for
conveying South Yorkshire coal to Hull for shipment throupgh the HB & WRIR
company’s own Alexandra Dock (op cit, 226). The company shortened its name to
the more manageable Hull and Bamskey railway {11 & B) in 1905 {(ifd). By the
carly 1900s the line was conveying same 45 coal trains and 20 goods trains cach
way daily {(op arir, 227). The line went into rapid decline after 1945, and the Iast
coal freight service was withdrawn in 1964, The raitway was dismantled by 1984,

Frickley Collicry was commenced by the Carlton Main Colliery {ompany in
March 1903 (Hill 2001, 198). The 24t 6in thick Barnslcy Scam was rcached at a
depth of 668 vards in May 1905, via two 2234t diameter, brick-lined shafts. The [irst
coal gained from the collicry was dispatched by rail to Grimsby during Scptember
L9205,

The Carlton Main Colliery Company retained ownership of Frickley until
nationalisation of the industry i 1947 {(Goodchild 2000, 10}. Al this time, Frickley
had ihe largest output of the collienies in the region, rmsmyg 4000 — 5000 tons per
day (Hill 2001, 198}. The colltery nally closed m 1993, and all surface struclures
were demolished and the site landscaped shortly afterwards.

A detailed account of the colhery is presented below (Section £.7.13).
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4. RESUILTS

4.1 DESK-BASED ASSESSMENT
4.1.1 Intotal, 15 sites of potential archaeological interest werc identificd within the study
area. These are listed in Appendix 7, and are shown on Figure 2 and summanscd in
the table below. Eight of these sites were recorded by the SMRs, while the rest
were identificd from cartopraphic sources. Only four of the sites will be affected by
the proposed development, these being Frickley Colliery (Site B), an air-raid shelter
(Sile 10}, Frickley Branch Line (Siie 14), and part of the former medieval deer park
(Site 15).
Site | Pertod NamefType Impact
i Medicval Frickley Old Hall (site of) and Unalfecied
L - Mnat PR p—
2 Unknown Earhworks, Frickley Odd Hall Unaflecied
3 Post-rnedieval | Frickley 14all Unaffected
41 Post-mnedieval | Ice-House, Frickley [Hall | Unaffected
5 Unknown Enclosure, South Kirkby I Inaffected
] [Inknown Cropmurks, South Kitkby Unallected
7 Pre-Conguest? | Silver bracelet, 36 Wesley Unaffected
Street, Mooriborpe, South Elmsall
3 C20th _. | Frickley Colliery, South Elmsall | Divectlyaffected |
g Post-medieval | Grounds of Frickley Hall Unaficcted
n C20th Air-raid shelter, north of Brirecily aflected
. o Frickley Collicry
11 Post-medicwal | West  Hiding  and  Grimsby Unaflecied
Railway
12 Post-medieval | Swinton and Knottingly Jobot Unaffected
Railway
13 Post-medieval | Hull and Barnsley Railway Unaffected
11 Post-rnedigval | Fricklcy Branch Ling Directly affected
15 Medigval Deer Park i Tartially affected
412 Earthworks and Cropmarks: the presenec in the area of Sites 2, 5 and 6 correspond
with the large number of cropmarked siles in the area as a whole. These fealures are
essentially undated, bul have been attmbuled by analogy lo the prehistone or
Roman perieds {Section 3.2.2}.
4,13  Frickley Old Hall and Frickley Hall: Fnckley Old Hall (Site 1) was built as a

moated manor site durmg the medieval penod. The manor of Frickley appears to
have come Lo the family of Anne during the fourteenth century by the marriage of
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Sir William Annc with Alice, daughler of Robert Hanngel (Page 1974). The halil
was extant ¢1685 when visited by Dr WNathamiel Tohnston who descnibed the coats
of anms, and an inscoption on wood over a stable door wiich read *God save
Martin Anne and Frances his wife 1572

The old hall is presumed to have been demolished by Anthony Wharton during the
eighteenth cenlury, although the moat was retained. Wharton then crected a new
manor house {the present Frickley Llall {Site 3), situated rther west). Additonal 1o
the meat, one of the outbuildings associated with Frickley Old Hall remains as a
standing structure, although it would scem itkely that the foundations of the Old
Hall may survive below ground. The moated remans of the Old Hall are designated
as a Scheduled Monument (SM 13235).

South Efmsall Medigval Deer Park: cxamination of the early Ordnance Survey
maps shows that the fieid system within the cxtent of the study area has had 2 long
and complex development, which was cenlred on a deer park. The outline of an
elliptical deer park was clearly depicted w the south-west of South Elmsall (Fig 3),
around which the communications of the area developed, and was in the nineteenth
century defined by Langthwaitc Lane to the north, Commaon Lane to the east,
Frickley Lanc to the south and a tree lmed track to the south-west. The park either
truncated or restricted the south-weslern development of South Elmsall, and ribbon
development for the village has accordmgly spread along the roads around the park.
1t is clearly of a relatively carly dale, long hefore any extended develepment of the
village, and probably was cstablished in the twelfth to fourteenth centuries, which
was the heyday of the medicval park (Lasdun 1991, 5). The medieval park would
normally be remote from its assoctaled manor house separated by areas of
cultivated land, and would oftcn be located on the more marginal land, it is
tempting, therefore to link this park with the Frickley meated site some I.1km to
the south of the park and which was indeed separated by cultivation strips.
Although there was a park around Frickley Hall shown on the OS 15t and 2nd
edition maps {Fig 3), this had an irregular outline and was clearly of a much later
nost-medieval date_ heing constraincd by the then extant field svstem Tha park and
the Frickley moated site were also divided by 2 lownship boundary, and hence
raises the possibility that the original maner house was zlternatively centred on
South Elmsall, possibly the site of the present Manor Famme.

Originally the decr park would not have been mternally divided and would have
had somc woodland to afford shelier for the deer, but woere typically intended to
brecd and cull deer tor the dinner table. The park would have had no recreational
(unction, by contrast with its later antecedents, and were typically elliptical or
eircular as being the easicst shape to enclosc (op cit, 12). The deer park was
Lypically between 100 and 200 acres in extent {op cit, 13}, yel the South Elmsat]
example was 164ha (¢4} acres), and as such was an unusually large deer park. The
park would Lypically have been enclosed by a park pale, which would have
comprised 2 bank and ditch, with the ditch on the mside, and a wooden fence or
pale would have been constructed on top. There 15, however, little surviving of the
historic boundarics let alone the original pale bank.

The open fields of South Elmsall would oniginally have been established around the
decr park, and there 18 a clear survival of a serics of aratral shaped {*5° shaped)
fields to (hc north and south ol the park which terminated at the park boundary.
‘Thesc boundaries are formed as a result of the enclosure of the strips wilhin open
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4.1.%

4.1.10

4.1.11

4.1.12

4.1.13

4.1.14

ficlds. and the strips have an ‘5" shape because of the oxen plough teams which
have a large furning circle and cestdt moan *5° shape ling as they return o the
primary line at the cnd of each sinp.

Al some pomnt in its history the park ceased Lo funclion as a deer park and became
subject 1o agrculiural yse, Westfield Lane, Spring Lane, and Bradle Carr Lane
were eslablished withn the extent of the former park, and there are 2 senes of sinp
fields, incorporating aratral shaped ficlds between the Westfield Tang and the
north-western edge of the former deer park; the presence of the aratral shaped fields
would suggest that the farming within the park was from the medicval period. To
the south-cast of Westficld lane the ficlds were [or the most part straight sided and
are likely to have had a later estabhishment date, indeed this area 15 shown on the
(S maps as South Elmsall Commen and was therefore probably unenclosed
commtomn lmd ontil probably 2 post-medieval date Certainly the sruare shapod
fields Lthat abound mn the centre and south-westem parts of the former park are hikely
o have been established as a result of parliamentary enclosure and must reflect the
latest episode of enclosure. The latest phase of this development was when the
railway cut through the westem tip of the former parl in L8789 { Section 3.2.18).

Raifweayps: the three railway lines running closc to the site (Sites 11 13) have been
discussed in detail in the background scction (Section 3.2.17). OF particular
relevance to the assessment 18 the Frickley Branch Linc (Site 14), as its route
crosscs the study arca.

The Ordnance Survey map of 1907, which was surveyed 1n 1904, shows part of the
line to have been built as a componeni of the colhery’s local mineral hine (Fig 4},
and the subsequent cdition map (surveyed in 1914) shows the Fockley Collicry
lines linked 1o the Hull and Barnsley Raibway {(Fig 5).

Afr-Raid Shelter: ihers 1s very hitle documented information asailable relanng 1o
ihe air-raid sheller (Site 10), and 11 was inaccessible duning the visual Inspection
walkover survey. However, 11 has smce been examined mpdly, and was revealed to
compnse 2 sertes of inter-hnking tunnels, buned 1o a depth a litle over 1m below
the modem ground surface. 1L was constructed of wire-remnforced concrete, mxed
wilh brick aggregate (Peter Wnght of Czlbro pers commy}.

Contrary to expectabions, no evidence for a large central chamber has yet been
identified, although a precise plan of the shelter and the extent of the tunnels
remains unknown. It 15 almost certainly dates to Warld War L, presumably acting a
tlast-proof shelter for colliery employees and the local residents of South Elmsall.

Frickley Colliery: a large body of inlormation relating 1o Foekley Colliery (Site 8)
was identified during the desk-based assessment. Exiensive cartographic coverage
15 provided by a scquence of Ordnance Survey maps, and abandonment plans for
the surface and the workings ol the colliery held at the Mining Records Office of
the Coal Aulhority. Additionally, English Ilentage caumied out a photographc
survey of the colliery in 1993 prior te its demaolition, and that archive is held at the
Maticnal Monumenis Eecord. Damp-proof capy books belonging te the cagincer of
Irickley Collicry as well as other related records were examined bricily in the West
Yorkshire Archives in Wakefield. A summary history of Frickley Collicry is
presented in several secendary sources, most notably by Hill (2001, 198-201).

Frickley Colliery was established by the Carlton Main Collicry Company in March
1903, when Ilwo 230 diameter, brick-lined shafts were sunk with the intention of
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4.1.15

4.1.16

4.1.17

4.1.18

4.1.19

exploiting the rich deposits of coal within the Bamsley Seam (Hill 2001, 19%),
which was already being mined at South Kirkby (Section 2.2.78 above). The 91t 6in
thick Barmstey Scam was reached at a depth of 668 yards in May 1905, and the first
coal ganed from the collicry was dispatched by rail lo Grimsby during September
1905,

The Ordnance Survey map of 1907 (surveyed in 1904} shows a large reservoir Lo
have been constructed imvmediately to the north of the collicry, and approximately
ten buildings to have been erccied around the heapstcad area (ie around the mouth
ol the winding shaft). These buildings included 2 wagon shop, blacksmiths and
fiiting shops, and a powerhouse. The blacksmiths shop was a common fealure of
callierics, and played a vital role in their running. Tt was responsible for gencral
smithy werk, including tasks mvolving forging and heat trcatment processes amd
the capping and recapping of rapes. The powerhouse was also an important
butlding, and previded an electric supply o the collicry from 1906 omwards, s
soon supplied other collieries in the area with power, including Grimethorpe,
Bricrley, Ferrymoor and South Elmsall (ibid). A octwork of railway lines,
cxtending eastwards rom the collicry, also appear on the 1907 edition map (Fig 4),
representing the initial part of the Frickley Branch linc (Section 4.1.9 above).

In 1911, the Warde Adlam Hospital was opened, having been buill next to the
colliery due to the great distance of the nearcst hospital from the site (Hill 2001,
198). In 1918 a brick-making plant was also under construction at the colliery,
although its preeisc location is nol clear,

During the initial years of operation, the No | shafl operated as the downcast and
coal winding shafl (Plate 1), whilst No 2 shafi was used principally for winding
men, materials, and spotl {ibid). However, as the oulput increased, both shafts were
employed to raise coal. The expansion of output was linked to an cxpansion of the
workforce; in 1908, a total of 1133 men were smployed at Frickley Colliery, of
which 899 toiled below ground, and 234 worked on the surface. By 1918, these
figures mereased to 1523 men below ground and 431 on the surface.

The Ordnance Survey 257 to 1 mile map of 1918 (surveyed in 1914) provides 2
detailed plan of the colliery, and demonstrates (he expansion of the site since (he
previous cditton Ordnance Survey map of 1907 (surveyed in 1904). Whilst there
appears 1o have heen some additions to the buildings within the heapstead arca by
1914, the most stoking expansion was in terms of the number of railway sidings,
and the completion of the Frickley Branch Line raitway (Site 14) to the main Hull
and Bamsley Ralway line (Sile 13}. Located to the north of the colliery, a short
row ol buildings also appear, which are likely to be miner’s coltages.

The Ordnance Survey map of 1932, surveyed in 1929/30 (Fig 5}, shows the collicry
infrastructure to have remained largely similar to the layout depicted on the 1918
ecition, although there were some notable additions (Plate 2). In particuiar, the
appearance of a huge spoil heap 1o the east of the heapstcad, which was served hy
an acrial ropeway, illustrates a high level of productivity. Small additions o the
camplex of railway sidings appear to have heen made, whilst to the south of the
sidings, a number of new slndge beds are shown, These will have reecived the
water that had been used to wash the coal. In gencral terms, a requirement (o wash
the coal coincided with the working of dirty or inferior coal seams {Wilson nd).
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4.1.20

4.1.21

4.1.23

4124

4.1.25

4.1.26

An annual report for the year coding in March 1930, praduced by the Carlton Main
Colliery Company {DDYWN/AL0Q/6), states that some 18 million lons of coal had
been extracted from Frickley Collicry since ils commencement, and average daily
output was thenr 5,700 tons. This had been extracted cntircly from the Barsley
Seam. The document also implics, however, that the collicry was not working at
full preduction, due to the depressed condition of the coal trade.

Coal was mined cntirely by hand at Frickley until 1934, when mechanical
conveyors were introduced, These were cvidenlly a successful innovation, as face-
conveyors were installed throughout the mine by 1937, In 1942, the Dunsil Seam,
located at a depth of 680 yards, was opened via drifts from the Bamsley Seam. The
cutput of the colbery mncreased accordingly, and by 1945, 2232 men worc
empioyed below ground and 540 on the surface.

The ownership of the coiliery was transferred from the Cartton Man Colbery
Company to the Govermment during the nationalisation of the industry in 1947
(Goodchild 2000, 10). At this time, Frickley had the largest output of the collierics
n the region, raising 4000-5000 1ons per day (Hill 2001, 198). Tt is thus
unsurptising that significant advances in mechanisation were implemented at
Frnckley Colliery. A sigmficant innovation was the introduction of mechanised
extraction in the Dupsil Seam during 1951, The 200 yard-long coal face was
equipped with German-type friction props, an armoured conveyor with a double-jib

.coal cutting machinc followed by 2 (ender plough, known as the ‘Cunie plough’,

named after its invenior who was a foreman fitter at the collicry (op cit, 199},

In 1954, Frickley Colliery produced over one million tons of coal from the Bamsley
and Dunsil Seams, retaining its status as one of the largest producers in’ Yorkshire.
In order to kecp pace with increascd extraction, skip-winding was introduced into
the No 1 shaft in 1964. The skips were upgraded to 10 tons capacity in 1963, and to
12 tons capacity subsequently. However, extraction from the Bamnsley Seam ccased
in 1966 following a major fire caused by spontaneous combustion {ibid).

In 1968, Frickley and South Elmsall Collierics were combined into 2 single unit
under the control of a Gencral Manager (ibidf). During the same year, a rapid-
loading, ‘merry-go-round” rail system was commissioned, which was onc of the
first in the country. The bulk of the output at this time, which averaped 30,000 Lons
of coal per weck, was sent to the coal-fired power stations at Ferrvbridge and
Thorpe Marsh. In order to ensure that this supply did not suffer through lack of
reserves, a par of dnfis were cut to the Cudworth Seam, at a depth of 309 yards.
This seam was put inle production m 1970.

By 1984, the mineral railway network has changed and has been considerably
reduced. Both the [{ull and Bamsley Ratlway (Site 13) and 1he Frickley Branch
Line (Site 14) had been dismantled, but the mineral railway was stil! connected to
the main railway system via the former Swinton and Knottingly Railway (Site 12).
The acrial ropeway alsc appears to have been dismamled.

On 13" November 1993, the Daily Teclegraph reported that “British Coal vesterday
signalled the expected closure of South Yorkshive s previowsly reprieved Frickley
Coflierv mear Pontefract with the foss of 7401 jobs®. Production ceased on 26™
November 1993, and the colliery closed.
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4.2
4.2.1

4.2.2

VISUAL INSPECTION WALKOVER SURYVEY

A visual inspection survey of the study area was undertaken to relate the existing
landscape to research findings, and was carried cut an 19" Junc 2003, Where it was
possible to identify buwlding foundations, points were taken with the hand-held
P8, and a photographic record was maintained.

All siructures pertammng to Frickley Colliery (Sile 8) were found to have been
demalished, although building {oundations do apparentiy survive. Few foundations
were visible, however, as much of the site was covered hy mining wastc and rubble
generated from the demolition of the colitery. Significantly, the main spoil hcap
appears to have becn modihed since the last edition Ordoance Survey map was
published in 1984, The extant remains of the collicry s shown on the recent base
survey provided by Lhe chent, and provides the most effective record of the now
demolished coal mine.

The landscape within the extent ol the study area accords with one that has been
severely impacted by the establishment of a major ceal extraction industry, and
which has subsequently been subject 1o the demolition of the bnildings and the
iandscaping of the sitc. No physical remains of any sites predating the
establishment of Frickley colliery were wlentified, nor would such sites be expected
given the extensive landscaping of the site that has been undentaken for the collicry
and subsequent fo its abandonment.
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5. DISCUSSION

5.1
5.1.1

.14

515

DISCUSSION

The desk-bascd asscssment has identificd evidence lor archacological activity
within the region since the prelsloric penod. Documenled activily within the study
arca, however, appears o be restncled to the medieval and later penods. The
medieval period 1s representad by Frickley Old Hall moated site and the South
Elmsall deer park.

Around six thousand moated sites arc known in England. They conzist of wide
ditches, olten or scasonally waler filled, partly or complelely enclosing one or more
izslands of dr}' :;g,mund o which stood duinestie or rt_:]igiuu:s huiidiugﬁ. Tis soitic cascs
the islands were wsed for horticulture. The majonty of moaied siles served as
prestigious anstocratic and seigmorial restdences with the provision of a moat
intended as a status symbol rather than a practical mihitary defence. The peak peniod
during which moated sites were built was hetween about 1250 and 1350, and by far
the grealesl concentration lies in the central and eastem parts of England. However,
moated sites were huiit throughout the medieval pedod, and are widely scattered
throughout England and exhibit a ligh level oF diversity in their forms and sizes.
They form a significant class of medieval monument and are important for the
understanding of the disinbution of wealth and status in the countryside. Fnckley
QOld Hall 15 a good and well-documented example of a small moated site with the
larpely undisturhed remams of medieva! buldings preserved in the 1sland deposits,
and good potential for the survival of orgame matenal in its water-filled moat.

Further evidence for mecieval activity is provided by the identification of a deer
park, the southermn pari of which lay within the study area. The typical date range
for deer parks matches with that for moated sites; commonly thirteenth or
[ourteenth centunes. While the deer park 15 spatially close to the lrickley moated

sile, possibly suggesting that the deor park holonged 16 the micatcd site. Howover,
the township boundary between South Eimsall and Frickley divides the two and it
15 therefore perhaps more probable that the deer park related to a manorial site in
South Elmsal. 11 1s perhaps significant that part of the boundary for Frickley
Colliery coincides with the deer park boundary; however, therc is no evidence of

any early boundary markers on this line.

The study arca is occupied eutirely by the remains of Frickley Colliery, and it
seems unlikely that substantial archaeolopical remaing of an earlier dale will have
survived this phase of industnial activity ir sifu. The colliery developed into one of
the largest producers of coal in the region, with an annual output in excess of one
million tons by the nud-1950s. A decline in (he coal trade durig the 1980s, and the
closure of the colliery wn 1993, led lo a penod of bifter depression in the area.
Nevertheless, despite being a relatively brief imtertude in the history of the arca, the
mndustry made a major contribution to the economic and physical development of
the area. Indced, coal may be seen to have been the raivon o ‘etre for scttloments
such as South Elmszall.

The ar-raid shelter is of some archaeological significance as Lhere is litle
information available relating to such sites. The valuc of such sites is acknowledged
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m the assessment of recent defence henitage currently being eonducted by CEnglish
Hertage™s Monuments Protection Programme.

5.1.6  The pre-war policy of the Government was to disperse the population in an air-raid
rather than build large public shelters which might beceme mass tombs. Many of
the public shelters were squat brick and concrete surface built shelters, designed o
hold up to 30 people. The majority of these comprised a central chamber, although
a few cxamples of alternative design do exisl. The Devonport High School in
Plymomth, lor instance, was served by a two parallel unnels connected by three
cross-tunpcls (www.cyber-hentage couk). Such examples, however, are few, and
the shelter within the study arey would appear to be of a rare design.
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0. IMPACT AND RECOMMENDATIONS

6.1
1.1

6.2
2.1

6.2.2

623

IMPACT

In all probability, the twenticth century usc of the study area as a collicry will have
obliterated any surviving archaeclogical evidence pertaining te an carlier period.
The demolinon of the colitery’s surface struclures and the subsequent landscaping
ol the area during the 19905, morcover, have largely removed any above ground
archaeological resource relating to this mdustrial period of use. The exceptions to
this are the present spoil heap and the air-raid shelter. Aoy future redevelopment of
the site may have 2 negative impact on these clements of the site.

The underground workings associated with the colliery constilute sub-surface
archaeological tesource. These workings would be affected should poor quality
coal be extracted from the site prior to, or during, its redevelopmenl.

RECOMMENDATIONS

The prime extant archacological resource on Lhe site are the colliory remaius. [t is
recommended that, where possible, the proposed landscaping of the site should
provide for the preservation and exposure of the building remains. The Vrickicy
Colliery was in its time one of the larpest and most productive cozl mines in the
region, and was the principal empioyer for the local communities. i is important
that the memory of the colliery should be retained on the site. Tt is therefore
recommended thal in conjunction with the exposure of the key structural
foundations, there should b a presentation board commemorating the coiliery, with
imagges of the site 10 operation and defining ils role, both in the region and in recent
history. Retention of the spoil heap would provide a physical reminder of the
collicry’s former existence, though it is recognised that the monument should be
madc sale.

The air raid shelter is a relict survival of the emergency works put mto place during
the second world war, and would appear to be a rarc form of shelter. Further
mveshgation of the air-raid shelter would be desirable, and may include a Level 3
Lype survey.

The deer park was potentially archaeologically one of the earliest features on the
site. Although no carly boundary features have been vecognised, there is the
pofcntial that such boundanes survive as a sub-surfuce featurc. It is therefore
recominended thal 1f any landscaping works are to impact on the line of the former
beundary then there should be a localised cvaluation of the boundary line to
investigate the potenhial for its survival,
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Ordnance Survey, 1971 515 40/54, surveyed 1956-61, 1:25000

Ordnance Survey, 1977 3£ 4610, 1:2500

Ordnance Survey, 1978 SE 4710, 1:2500

Ordnance Survey, 1981 5F 4770, 1:2500

Ordnance Sucvey, 1982 SE 4670, 1:2500

Ordnance Survey, 1983 §E 40 NE, surveyed 1961-76, revised 1982, 1:10000

Ordnance Survey, 1984 SF 4609 and SE 4709, reconstituled from former county scries,
1:2500

72 ARRIAL PHOTOGRAPHS
DNR, 1977 Run 1094, shot 12

West Yorkshire, 1970 Run 73, shots 33-6
West Yorkshire, 1986 Run 177, shels 35-7
West Yorkshire, 1989 Run 220, shots §-10
West Yorkshire, 1995 Run 256, shots 3-4

7.3 PRIMARY SOURCES
7.3.1 West Yorkshire Arclives, Wakeficld

C587/1, 1902-4 Sketch Book No.1 from April 30" 1902 to January 14" 1904, damp press
copy sketch book of drawings and specifications for maciinery by Frank Green, engmecr
for Frickley Collicry
'SR 100KTF Sketrh Rack Na 3 feam Fehruary TR™® TONA to Fune 26 1007 damn nress
copy skeich book of drawings and specifications for machinery by Frank Green, engineer
for Fnckley Collicry

C587/3, 1906-7 Lists und dimensions ol girders, joists, pitch pine ete scribbled on backs of
notes received by Frank Green, engincer for Frickley Colliery

D 168/12/2, 1808 Plan of the Township of South Flmsall in the Parish of South Kirkby in
the West Riding of the County of York

WRERD B30, 1813 fnclosure Award for the Township of South Elmsall

7.32 Doncaster Arcliives, Doncaster

PR CLAY/6, 1814 Plan of the Parish of Frickley cum Cluyton otherwise Clayton with
Frickley in the West Riding of the County of York

DD/WN/AL10/52, 1937 Plan relating 10 coal mimeg 1929-1932 at Frickley and Hickleton
Collicrics, showing piliar left below Hooton Pagnell Hall

DD/WN/AL0/59, 1925 Gordon’s Map of the Yorkshire Coalfield showing collieries,
owners, railways, kinds of coal, number of men employed, also shipping poris, etc
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DD/WN/A TGO, nd (19305) The Yorkshire Coalficld

1.3.3  South Yorkshire County ftecord Office, Doncaster
DDYWN, 1991 Accession 1367 Warde-Norbery of footon Pagnell,

DD/WN/ALO/GE, The Carlton Main Colliery Company Limited: Report of the Directors
and Balance Sheet for the Year ended 31" March, 1730, with notice of Annual General
Mecting

7.4 SECONDARY SOURCES
Clark, D, 2002 Baiticfield Walks in Yorkshire, Wilmslow, Cheshire

Countryside Commission, 1998 Countryside Character Volfume 3: Yorishire and the
Humbaer, the character of England's natural and man-made tandscape, Cheltenham

Decgan, A, 2000 South Eimsall Area, West Yorkshire: Air Photo Assessment, unpubl rep

Bepariment of the Emvironment, 1987 List of Buildings of Special Architectural or Historic
Interest, 47: City of Wakefield, West Yorkshire

Dinmin, M, 1997 Intreduction to the Palacocnviconmental Survey, in B Van de Noort and §
Ells, (eds), Wedland Heritage of the Humberland Levels, Kingston upon Hull, 31-45

English Heritage, 1991a Munagement of Archacological Projects, 2nd edn, London
English Heiitage, 1991k Schedule: Frckley Hall moated site, SAM 13235
Farlne, I, and Cookson, P, 1984 Raffways around Wakefield and Poniefract, Skiplon

Faull, ML, and Moeorhouse, SA {eds), 1981a West Yorkshire: an Archacological Survey to
AD 500, 1: Sources, Environment and the County fo AD 1066, Wakefield

Faull, ML, and Moorhouse, S8A (cds), 19815 West Yorkshire: an Archaeological Survey to
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Faull, ML, and Stinson, M (cds), 1986 Yorkshire, in Domesday Book, od ] Moms, 30,
Chichcster

(roodcld, J, 2000 fmages of England: West Yorkshire Coalfield, Siroud

Gould, 5, and Cranstone, 13, 1992 Monuments Protection Programme: The Coul Industry,
Step I, unpubl rep

Hey, D, 1979 The Making of South Yorkshire, Derby

Hey, Td, 1986 Yorkshire from ADIOO, Londen

Hill, A, 2001 The South Yorkshire Coalfield: A History and Development, Stroud
Hnter, J, 1974 South Yorkshive, 2, originally publishcd 1828-31, republished Walkefield

Toy, D, 1984 A regional History of the Railways of Grear Britain, 8: South and West
Yorishive, second edition, Noewton Abbott

Lasdun, 5, 1991 The English Park, Royal, Private and Public, London
Marpgary, ID, 1973 Boman Roads in Britain, London

For the tase of The Enviroumend Parinership . B Gt Moreh: Fufy 2001



Fricklev Colfiery, Sorth fimeall: Archaeolomend Desh-fased Aviessercnr 23

Martin, GH, Danbury, EA, Goldberg, PIP, Barber, BJ, and Beresford, MW, 1994
Doncaster: A Borough and ifs Charters, Dancaster

Newville, RG, 1976 The Yorishire Miners in Camera, Nelson
Page, W, 1974 The Victoria History of the County of Yorkshire, 1, London
Phiilips, E, and Danby, GRH, 1921 The Story of Doncaster, London

Rusiecki, P, 1993 The Plough and the Pick: the industrial transformation of two Yorkshire
Vilfaeres, Wakeficld

Smith, AH, 1961 The Place-Names of the West Riding of Yorkshire, Part 1 Lower &
Upper Strafforth and Staincross Wapentakes, Fnglish Place-Name Soc, 30, Cambridge

Trucman, M, 1994 Monuments Protection Programme: flectric Power Generation, Step 1,
unpubd rop

UKIC, 1990 Gudelines for the Preparation of Archives for Long-Term Storage

Wheelcr, PC, 1994 South Yorkshire Placenames Projecr, South York Arch Umd, Shelficld

Wilkinson, A, 1979 A History of Sowth Kirkby, with nofes on the swrounding viliages,
tley

Wilson, FH, nd (pre 1913) Coal — its arigin, method of working, and preparation for
market, London
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APPENDIX |
SITE GAXZETTELR

Site number 1

Site Name Frickiey (3ld Hall {Siic of) and Moat

NLGR SE 471 086

SME no South Yoerkshire 363

Site 1'ype Hall, Moated sile

Peried bedieyval

Source South Yorkshice SMR; Hunter 1974, 149-50; English 1 leritage 19916
Deseription

This is the sie of the Cld Hall at Frckley. No above ground cemaias of the hall survive cxeept a seventeenth
contury outbwlding (515 4710 0860). The moat is still water filled and has heen extercled to south to form an
omamcntal lake, Park Farm s modeme bul it includes the probable remains of the seveoteenth century
outhaildines i Frickley Od [ The sathuilding is now amalgamated with the moodon buildings of Paik
Farm and used 25 a cow shed. There are po inscriplions visible. Frickley ©1d Hall moated site was designated
d Schoduled Momument (SM 13233} in 1991, The sile is a rectangular island measuring 3m % 20m
surrgunded by a water-fillad moat ¢10m wide. The south arm ol the moat was widened in the secand half of
the mopeteenth contury to create an ornamental lake, incorporating & separate (ishpond contemporary with the
mpated sie and shown on the 1854 Ordnance Servey 6™ 1 mile niap. The meat is stone tevelicd to the north
and west and the (oundations of a stone bridge are visible approximately mrdway along (be west amm This
was known to be the manor of the Annes Irom the fourtecnth cennery onwards, the size of the island indicates
it was the sife of the manor house only, aod was demelished when the present hall was built. Frickley Old
Eixll is a pood and well-documented example of a smmall moated site with the largely ondisturbed remains of
wedicval buildings preserved in the island deposits. Organic maleral is likely to survive in its water-filled
oAt

Assessment

The site lies to the south of the proposed development arca and will not be affected by 1

Site numher 2

Site Name Yarthworks, Frickley Old Hall
NGR sL: 472 057

SHMR no South Yorkshire 2883

Site Type Earthworks

Poriod Tinlmowm

Source South Yorkshire SME
Deseriplion

Marth of Frickley Ol 11zll Moat (Site 1) are some carthworks, notably an enclosure which just wonches the
nerth-zast cornet of the moat, and has a prominent rounded comer to the porh-east,

Assegssment
The sile Lics to the south of the proposed development area and will not be affected by it

Sile number 3

Site Nanw Frickley lall

NGR 5L 4678 0854

SMHE no Somch Yorkshire 34457
Site Type Hall

Perind Fost-medieval
Source South Yorkshine 5MR
Description

A country house, built between 1722 znd 1785 for Anthoay Wharlon. The present stmeciure appeats to be an
early ninctecnth century cebuilding of the eighteenth century kouse, The building is Listed Grade TT*,

Assessment
The site Lies (o the south of the propozed development arca and will not be alfecied by it.
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Site owrber 4

Site Name fechonse, Frickley Hall

NGR SE 47190851

S5ME no Seuth Yorkshine 3468

Sitc Type leehouse

Period Post-roedieval

Source South Yorkshire SMR; Ordnance Survey 1983
Descriplivo

An icchause shown on the Ordnance Survey 1:10560 1966, The icchouse lies within the grounds of Frickley
Hall.

Assessment
The sitc Hes b the sauth of the proposed development area and will not be aifected by i

Site numbar 5

Site Naww Eowdvsne, Suuln Knkby

NGR HE 449 {7

SMRE no Wesl Yorkshire 775

Site Tvpe Enclosure

Period Unkonown

Source West Yarkshire SME; DNR 1977, West Yorkshire 1979
Description

A reclilincar enclosure, o0 .5km across with an entrance to east. There are associated lincar ditches {nactower)
some of which possibly form a scoondary enclesuie attached (o the nortbem side of the main cnclasure,
Axspssment

The site lies to the north of the proposed development arca and wAll not be affected by i

Kite number G

Site Name Cropmarks, South Kirkhy

NGR SE 450 103

SMR na West Youkshire 834

Site Type Watural?

Period [Tnknown

Souree West Yorkshire SME; West Yorkshire 1986; West Yorkshire 1989 West Yorkshire 1995
Description

A auall wea (W50 a S ol wlupuue ks foowning @ TOUEH TEGITHNCHT PAlG remimscen of namrai Tros
cracking of the bedrock. This type of natural phenomenon is not normalty seen in the South Kitkby arca and
should he treated with reservation. (TF archacological, the imetion of small, iregular square and cectangular
enclosures 5o formed, s wnecrtain). One hupdred metres o the wesl, WY 17737 shows the diffuse comer of
another leature which could turn out to be an archaeological feature. Acrial photographs from 1995 add oo
(urlher information

Assessment

The site lies to the north of the proposed develvproent arca and will not be affected by it

Site number 7

Kite Name 36 Wesley Street, Moortharpe, South Elmsall
NGR SE 46505 10910

SMR o West Yorkshire 3782

Site ‘I'ype Bracelel

Period Pre-Congueest?

Soures Wesl Yorlshire SME

Deveriptivn

A silver bracelet found ¢1920 in the back parden ol 36 Weslcy Street, Moorthorpe, South Lbmsall, and is still
in possession of the finder in 1991, 11 18 twa tlurds complete, and appears to have been cut in antiguily. It has
an cquitateral triangle cross section (5.4mmyside), and is composcd of four sirands of wire each 1.6mm in
digmeter. 1t has an intact termimal which is in the shape of a zovmorphic head with round ears and a long,
upturned snoul. It has been initially wntatively identified as a modern ethnographic picce, possibly Oriental
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in origin. Subsequen! examination, howevey, raised the posaibiling that the arm ring may have pacallels in
Irish-¥iking zilverwerk, and as such may potentially be of a pre-Conquest date.

Assessment

The site Lies te the nerth of the proposed development arex and will not be allected by i

Site aumber ]

Site Name Frickley Collicry, South Elmsall
NGR SE 404 007

SMRE na West Yorkshire 46726

Site Type Coal mining site

Period Twentieth Century

Source West Yockshice SME
Description

A colliery established in 1903 by the Carlton Main Collivry Company lo exploit the rich deposits of coal
within the Bamsley Scam. The first coai gained fom the coilwery was dispatched by raii 1o Grinshy during
Seplember 1905, The Carlton Main Colliery Compacy retaioed owoership of Frickley until the
nalicnalisation of the indostry in 1947, At this time, Frickley had the larpest output of the collierics in the
tegion, mising 40005000 tons per day. The colliery firally closed m 1993, and all surface strectures were
demolished and the site landscaped shortly afierwards,

Assessineni

The site mcludes the entice development area and will be dircetly affected.

Site numher 9

Site Name Frickley Hall Park

NGR Centred on SE 4719 0851

SMRE no -

Kite Type Parkland

Period Post-rnedizgval

Source Ordnance Survey maps

Deseription

The parkland of Frickley Hall as shown on the 098 1* and 2™ cdition maps.
ASSCSSICTH

The site lics to the south of the proposed developinent arca and will not be affected.

Site number it

Site Name Adr-raid shelter, north of Fockley Collicry

NGR SE 4339 1822

SME oo -

Site Type Air.raid shelter

Period L934-1945

Source Ordnance Stevey 1949, 1962 and 1984; Meter Wright of Catbro pers comm
Deseription

An air-raid shelter, associated witl World War II delonces. The stucture comprises a seties of inter-linking
tunncls, buned m a depth a lide over 1m below the modemn pround serface, Tt is constiucted of wire-
reinlorced concrete, mixed with brick agpregate.

Assessment

The site lics within the proposed development area and will be dircetly alfoeted.

5ie number 11

Site Namne West Riding and Grimsby Jeint Railway
NGR SF 4479 1993 — 4864 1883

S5ME na -

Site Type Railway

Period 1By

Source Joy 1984, 220

Deseriplion
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The raillway was opened in 1866, and was jaimly vested i wvo companies - the Circat Northern and (he M5
BT

Assessment
The site lics Lo the cast ol the proposed development arca and will not be affected.

Site numiber 12

Site Name Swintor and Enottingly Juint Railway
NCGR SE 4501 1399 - 4496 1527

SMR no -

Site Type Railway

Perind 1879

Sonree Joy 1984, 223

Nescriprion

The railway was a joint passenger line, opencd in 79 1 was wsed by a multiplicity of services, mainly
passcnger, bt alar coal. Tho main bwo companics optrating trains on ihic line were the Madland railway and
the Morth Basiern railway, howeyver, Great Northern and MS & L also ran services on the hoe,

Assessment

The site lics 1o the west of the proposed development area and will not be aflected.

Sife nomber 13

Site Name Hull and Bamsley Railway
NGR SE 4785 1976 — 4614 1614
SME ro -

Site Tvpe Hailway

Perind 1383

Soorce Ty 1934, 327

Drescription

The Hull, Bamnsley and West Riding Junciion Railway and Duck Company opened iheir line in 1883, The
main line wn 53 miles from the Midland Railway al Cudworth to the passenger teominus of Cannon Street in
Hull. It was conceived primarily for convaying Sputh Yarkshire coal to Hull for shipment through the HB &
WRIR company's own Alexandra Dack, and was intcnded to break the monopoly of the North Eastern
Railway and the Hul! Dock Company on the trade of Hull. The campany shortened its name o Holl and
Eamsley Railway in 1905, and amalgamated with the North Eastern Railway in 1922, 35 2 preliminary 1o the
1923 Urouping when it Formed part of the { ondon and Nosth Basiern Bailway Company. The line went into

L I s nenae - .8 elo Yol o o B P T few oo e m mmee - -l 2Tal AL Y A YL oMo .- Al __a1_1
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Assessment

The sitc lies ta the sourh of the proposed development area and will not be afivcted

Sile number 14

Site Name Frickley Branch Fine Railway
NGR SE 45731808 4660 1756
SMR no -

Site Type Railway

Perind 1914

Souree Joy 1984, 227

Descriptinon

T'he Frickley Branch line was completed before 1914, and Binked the mineml railway of Fockley Colliery to
the iull and Bamnsley Raibway. The line was disimantled by 1984,

Assessment
The route of the dismantled mmilway crosses the development area and will be directly afllected by any

redevelopinent of the site.

Site number 15
Site Name South Elrsall Deer Parle
NGR SE 469 104 {cenired)
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SMR no -

Site Type Deer Park

Perind MWedieval

Source 035 Ist edition maps, 18924
Description

The outline ol an clliptical park {164ba) is located to the immediale south-west of South Elmsall The park
was eslablished bejore the extended development of the village of South Llmsall occurred #0d before the
road syslem in the locale becamne cetablished. I is probable Lhat il was ol medweval orgin and would accord
wilh numerous wiher medieval deer parks establisbed around the dhirteenth / fourteenth centunes, being
elliptical and baving 4 road system that diverls around 1t

Assessment

The proposed development 1ncludes a subslantial proporion of the fortner deer pack; however, hide o any of
the arignal area wall have survived the colliery works,
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l [LLUSTRATIONS

Figure 1: Frickley Colhery Location Map

Figure 2: Gazetteer Siles

Figure 3. Extract of 2™ edition OS 6” to | mile map (1892)

Figure 4: Extract of 3" edition OS 6" to | mile map (1907)

Figure 5: Extract of 1932 257 to | mule G8 map, showmyg Fnckley Collicry
Figure 6: The Frickley Colliery workings in 1984

Figure 7: I'ickley Colliery following closure and the landscapmg ol the site
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PLATES

Platc |

Plate 2
Mate 3

Plate 4

A mid-twentieth century image ol Frickley Colliery, showing lhe
heapstead area, including both sets of headgear

A late twenlicth century view of the heapstead area

An carly twentieth century view of the colliery heapstead, showing the
refurhishment of the winding gear of No 1 shafl {after Neville 1976)

Extant wall foundations in thc south-western parl of the site
following demolition and landscaping,
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Plate 1| A mid-iwenticth century image of Frickley Colliery, showing the heapsiead
arca, including both sels of headgear

Plate 2; A late twenheth century view of the heapstead area
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Plate 3, An early twentieth ceniury view of the colliery
heapstead, showing the refurbishment of the winding gear
of No 1 shafi (after Neville 1976)

Plate 4: Extant wali foundations in the south-western part
of the site following demolition and landscaping



